IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-807 Lower Court Case No. 2000-CF-573-K

MICHAEL ANTHONY TANZI, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAUL KALIL Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0150177

SCOTT GAVIN Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0058651

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Tel. (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Monroe County, Florida, entered the final judgments of conviction and death sentence currently at issue. On April 27, 2000, Mr. Tanzi was apprehended in Key West, Florida, for questioning into the disappearance of Janet Acosta. Mr. Tanzi was subsequently indicted for the first-degree murder of Janet Acosta on May 16, 2000. (R. 13-14). An amended information was filed on March 26, 2002, charging Mr. Tanzi with carjacking with a weapon, kidnapping to facilitate a felony with a weapon, armed robbery with a deadly weapon, and two counts of sexual battery with a deadly weapon. (R. 299-301).

The circuit court appointed the Office of the Public Defender to represent Mr. Tanzi. The Public Defender's Office assigned Attorney Stephanie Fleming to Mr. Tanzi's case. Subsequently, Ms. Fleming was removed from the case and attorneys Nancy Rossell and William Kuypers were assigned.

Initially, Mr. Tanzi pled not guilty to all charges. (R. 22). On January 31, 2003, Mr. Tanzi entered a guilty plea to the counts of first-degree murder, carjacking, kidnapping, and armed robbery. Mr. Tanzi elected to be tried in Miami-Dade County for the two counts of sexual battery. Mr. Tanzi also sought to waive

¹ After the two sexual battery charges were severed, the State elected to not prosecute those charges. (R. 1803).

his right to a jury recommendation of sentence. (R. 1242-44; 2269; 2276; 2423-25). The trial court denied Mr. Tanzi's request for a waiver of a penalty phase jury. (R. 1925-26).

Later that same day, Mr. Tanzi attempted, without the assistance of counsel, to withdraw his guilty plea. (R. 2044). In court, Mr. Tanzi expressed his surprise and confusion at having given up his right to a jury trial in the guilt phase, with the attendant loss of any issues on appeal, if he wasn't going to receive the anticipated benefit of a bench trial at the penalty phase. (R. 2046-47). Mr. Tanzi also raised concerns about his attorneys' representation of him going into the plea agreement. (R. 2048). The trial court inquired into his relationship with his trial attorneys, but did not rule on Mr. Tanzi's motion to withdraw his plea. Id.

The circuit court conducted Mr. Tanzi's penalty phase on February 10 - 19, 2003. At the penalty phase, counsel presented Linda Sanford, a forensic social worker who had evaluated Mr. Tanzi for the Chamberlain School and supervised his treatment there. (T. 1080; 1100). Ms. Sanford reviewed Mr. Tanzi's extensive history, and his continuous commitment in various mental institutions from 1991 through 1995. (T. 1082-1101). She also testified to the failure of Mr. Tanzi's sexual offender treatment. It was not until 1993 that Mr. Tanzi was finally placed in an appropriate program at Brightside. After ten months he was

discharged, against medical advice, due to budget constraints and his mother's overestimation of his progress. (T. 1093).

The defense also presented William Vicary, M.D., a California forensic psychiatrist. Dr. Vicary found several diagnoses, "the most important" being Bipolar Disorder. People with Bipolar Disorder tend to go on sprees or engage in destructive behavior "without regard to the repercussions or consequences." (T. 1160). Michael's history of impulsive behaviors – unable to stay quiet, irritable, volatile and angry, friendless, fighting with peers and teachers, suspended, setting fires - was consistent with a classic case of misdiagnosed child onset Bipolar Disorder. (T. 1161). Dr. Vicary categorized Mr. Tanzi's Bipolar Disorder as "severe," on a scale of 1-to-10, an eight or nine. (T. 1168). Dr. Vicary also found substance abuse, paraphilia and antisocial personality disorder. (T. 1159). Mr. Tanzi was suffering from all of these psychiatric disorders at the time of the offenses, which would not have occurred otherwise. (T. 1167-68). These illnesses substantially affected Mr. Tanzi's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, and to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (T. 1168).

Counsel failed to provide Dr. Vicary with the videotapes of Mr. Tanzi's statements to police after he was apprehended. On cross-examination, Dr. Vicary admitted that the videotape was an "important component of the equation" and that "it would have been better if I had seen the videotape." (T. 1184-85).

Dr. Vicary had a disciplinary history as a result of his conduct in the highly sensationalized murder case involving Eric and Lyle Menendez's violent murder of their parents in Los Angeles, California. As the treating psychiatrist for Eric Menendez, Dr. Vicary made notes about things that Eric Menendez said. When Dr. Vicary met with Leslie Abramson, Mr. Menendez's attorney, she told him to remove certain things from the notes that were potentially harmful to Menendez that could be used by the prosecution in his criminal case. Abramson instructed that Dr. Vicary remove those statements from his notes and conceal it from the prosecution or he would be removed from the case. (T. 1148-51). Dr. Vicary chose to "commit the ethical violation and continue being involved in the case." (T. 1205-9). He also rewrote his notes so that it wouldn't be apparent that he had removed things from them, and the "doctored up" notes were then sent to the prosecution. (T. 1205). The executive director of the California Medical Board initiated the complaint himself based on medial accounts of the case. (T. 1205-09). As a result of his conduct, Dr. Vicary's license was revoked by the State of California. That revocation was suspended, however, Dr. Vicary was required to pay the costs of the investigation, and was placed on professional probation and required to take an ethics course. (T. 1151).

Before Dr. Vicary took the stand at the penalty phase, the defense moved in limine to exclude evidence of the California Medical Board matter and the

resulting license suspension and probation. (R. 1290-91; 1293-1302; T. 1121-36). The court permitted the State to present the California disciplinary record over defense objection. (T. 1204-08).

Alan Raphael, Ph.D., a Florida forensic psychologist also testified at the penalty phase. Dr. Raphael diagnosed Mr. Tanzi with eleven disorders spanning all five diagnostic categories. (T. 1299). Dr. Raphael testified that Mr. Tanzi suffers from Axis 1 disorders including Polysubstance Dependence, Posttraumatic Stress voyeurism, R/O Disorder. Exhibitionism, sexual sadism, Schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, and psychotic disorder. These are all psychotic disorders, meaning you have hallucinations, you're hearing voices, seeing things. Your ability to perceive the world you live in accurately is falsely distorted. (T. 1302). Mr. Tanzi was put on Haldol while he was in jail because he was psychotic. (T. 1302). In addition, Dr. Raphael testified that Mr. Tanzi suffers from Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, learning disability and bereavement. (T. 1302-3). Dr. Raphael also diagnosed Antisocial Personality Disorder (Axis 2), physical problems (Axis 3), and problems with family, imprisonment and homelessness (Axis 4). Mr. Tanzi's Global Assessment of Functioning was 40-45, which is well below the normal range. (T. 1305). Dr. Raphael opined that Mr. Tanzi was suffering from these disorders at the time of the offense, and that they affected his ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct. (T. 1312).

In addition to expert testimony, the defense presented Phyllis Whalen, Mr. Tanzi's mother at the penalty phase. Ms. Whalen identified childhood photographs of Mr. Tanzi and testified to his childhood difficulties, mental problems, and his father's death.

The jury recommended Mr. Tanzi be sentenced to death by a vote of 12 - 0. (R. 1820-24).

On March 14, 2003, the Court conducted a *Spencer*² hearing. (R. 2214-34). At that hearing, trial counsel read a letter to the court from Mr. Tanzi's mother pleading for his life and submitted statements of Ms. Acosta's family and long-time boyfriend to show that Ms. Acosta opposed the death penalty. (R. 1220-1222). Trial counsel Rossell admitted that this was her "first time doing one of these hearings" and that she was not sure how to conduct it. (R. 2225). Mr. Tanzi read his own prepared statement to the Court. (R. 2228-2232).

On April 11, 2003, the circuit court entered its sentencing order sentencing Mr. Tanzi to death for the murder of Janet Acosta, and consecutive life sentences for each count of carjacking, kidnapping and robbery. ^{3,4} (R. 1804-1832).

² Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

³ The trial court found the following seven (7) aggravating factors: (1) the murder was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or on felony probation (great weight); (2) the murder was committed during the commission of a kidnapping (great weight); (3) the murder was committed during the commission of two sexual batteries (great

On April 25, 2003, the trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit to represent Mr. Tanzi in his direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. On May 8, 2003, appellate counsel filed a Motion to Withdraw Pleas of Guilty and for Evidentiary Hearing on Motion. (R. 2134-58). The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on November 15, 2004. (R. 2490; 2312-2497). On January 6, 2005, the trial court issued its order denying Mr. Tanzi's motion to withdraw his plea. (R. 2302).

This Court affirmed Mr. Tanzi's conviction and sentence on direct appeal.

Tanzi v. State, 964 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 2007). Mr. Tanzi's motion for rehearing was

weight); (4) the crime was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest (great weight); (5) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain (great weight); (6) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel ("utmost" weight); and (7) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner (great weight). (R. at 1804-1832).

The trial court found the following mitigating factors: (1) Mr. Tanzi suffered from Axis II personality disorders (some weight); (2) Mr. Tanzi was institutionalized as a youth (some weight); (3) Mr. Tanzi's behavior benefited from psychotropic medications (some weight); (4) Mr. Tanzi lost his father at a young age (some weight); (5) Mr. Tanzi was sexually abused as a child (some weight); (6) Mr. Tanzi twice attempted to join the military (some weight); (7) Mr. Tanzi cooperated with law enforcement (some weight); (8) Mr. Tanzi assists other inmates by writing letters and he enjoys reading (some weight); (9) Mr. Tanzi's family has a loving relationship with him (some weight); and (10) Mr. Tanzi has a history of substance abuse (found, but given no weight). (R. at 1804-1832).

⁵ Mr. Tanzi raised the following issues on direct appeal: (1) the trial court erred in denying his motion to withdraw his guilty plea; (2) the trial court erred in permitting questions regarding lack of remorse; (3) the trial court erred in permitting impeachment of his expert witness by a specific and unrelated act of

denied on August 27, 2007, and the Mandate issued on September 12, 2007. On November 26, 2007, Mr. Tanzi filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the United State's Supreme Court, which was denied on February 19, 2008. *Tanzi v. Florida*, 128 S. Ct. 1243 (2008).

Mr. Tanzi initiated his state postconviction proceedings by requesting public records pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852. (Supp. PCR. 49-79). Mr. Tanzi filed his Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 on February 13, 2009. (PCR. 1-175). The State filed a response on March 30, 2009. (PCR. 176-237). The Circuit Court conducted a case management conference on June 12, 2009, and issued an order on June 30, 2009, granting an evidentiary hearing on several of Mr. Tanzi's claims. (PCR. 308-313). On July 28, 2009, Mr. Tanzi filed a Motion for Leave to Amend with two additional claims. (PCR. 324-358). The State responded on July 30, 2009. (PCR. 359-65). The circuit court issued its Order denying Mr. Tanzi's motion for leave to amend on August 14, 2009. (PCR. 392-93).

_

misconduct; (4) the trial court erred in admitting his confession to sexual battery; (5) the trial court erred in assessing the murder in the course of a felony aggravator twice; and (6) the trial court did not properly consider and weigh mitigation evidence. Mr. Tanzi also claimed that Florida's death sentencing statute violates *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428, 153 L. Ed. 2d 556 (2002). *Tanzi v. State*, 964 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 2007).

The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on January 25-28, 2010. (PCR.-T 1-433). At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Tanzi presented several lay and expert witnesses. Mr. Tanzi was represented at trial by Attorneys Nancy Rossell and William Kuypers of the Monroe County Public Defender's Office. William Kuypers testified at Mr. Tanzi's evidentiary hearing that Ms. Rossell was the lead attorney and primarily responsible for the guilt phase. 6 Mr. Kuypers was primarily responsible for the sentencing phase. (PCR-T. 95). Mr. Kuypers took over those responsibilities from Attorney Stephanie Fleming, who had taken one of Mr. Kuypers's cases in exchange for him assuming her responsibilities in Mr. Tanzi's case. At the time of Mr. Tanzi's trial, Mr. Kuypers had tried "maybe" three, four maybe" capital guilt phases. (PCR-T. 96). In addition, Mr. Kuypers assisted directly or indirectly on approximately eight homicide cases. (PCR-T. 130).

According to Mr. Kuypers, the investigation was conducted by "our office, the attorney and the investigators in our office." (PCR-T. 97). There were two investigators at the public defenders office at the time, and Attorney Stephanie Fleming conducted some of the investigation herself. Mr. Kuypers had no recollection of what the investigators did or their training, but recalls that "they are both ex police officers with a lot of experience in criminal investigation." (PCR-

⁶ Tragically, Nancy Roselle committed suicide November 5, 2003.

T. 98). Prior to Mr. Kuypers's involvement, Ms. Fleming traveled to Massachusetts and New York to conduct investigation. (PCR-T. 136-7). Mr. Kuypers subsequently went to Massachusetts for depositions and to speak with Mr. Tanzi's mother and "whoever else I could speak to." (PCR-T. 137).

Mr. Kuypers testified that he was aware of the ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, however he was not aware that the guidelines pertained to Mr. Tanzi's case: "I don't think the ABA guidelines were in effect at that time, but I may be wrong." (PCR-T. 133).

Mr. Kuypers testified at the hearing that psychiatrist William Vicary, M.D., had been retained by the public defender's office prior to his involvement with Mr. Tanzi's case. (PCR-T. 99). Mr. Kuypers provided background materials and records to Dr. Vicary, but failed to provide him with a copy of Mr. Tanzi's videotaped statement to the police. (PCR-T. 119). Mr. Kuypers had no knowledge of Dr. Vicary's background and had never worked with him before. (PCR-T. 100). To his knowledge, no efforts were made to investigate Dr. Vicary's background. "We had his resume and that was it". (PCR-T. 100). Mr. Kuypers did not learn about Dr. Vicary's disciplinary problems in the Menendez case until the State deposed Dr. Vicary in preparation for the penalty phase. (PCR-T. 101).

Mr. Kuypers testified that he had spoken with Hampton Perkins, a neighbor of the Tanzi's, in Brockton, Massachusetts. Mr. Perkins was one of the few people

in the neighborhood who showed care for Mr. Tanzi. Trial counsel felt that his testimony could have been helpful by humanizing Mr. Tanzi. (PCR-T. 120). Mr. Kuypers felt so strongly about the potential benefits of Mr. Perkins testimony that he would have called him as a witness even if his testimony was inconsistent with other evidence presented at the penalty phase. (PCR-T. 154-5). However, Mr. Kuypers never presented Mr. Perkins to the jury because he believed Mr. Perkins "didn't want to come." And "felt it was too much of an effort" given his age and apparent infirmity." (PCR-T. 120-1). Despite his belief that Mr. Perkins was a valuable witness, Mr. Kuypers made no effort to secure Mr. Perkins because he did not think Mr. Perkins would be cooperative if he did. (PCR-T. 122).

Mr. Tanzi's penalty phase was to begin on February 10, 2003. On February 7, 2003, the Assistant State Attorney Manuel Madruga sent a memorandum to trial counsel:

In a telephone conversation with Robin Ragsdale, of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, on 2-07-03, she indicated to me that while conducting DNA analysis on the above referenced case she noticed an increased presence of Y chromosomes in the defendant's cells. She did not confirm that the defendant was an XYY genotype, but suspected it was a possibility. In an abundance of caution I offer this information to you for whatever value it may have. A copy of this letter will be filed with the court.

(Defense Exhibit 4). (PCR-T. 126). Mr. Kuypers did not recall seeing the memorandum; the first time he learned about the possibility that Mr. Tanzi suffers from 47,XYY Syndrome was during a telephone conversation with postconviction

counsel. (PCR-T. 111). Had he seen the State's memorandum, Mr. Kuypers would have investigated further. He would have at least provided the information to his experts and followed up on it to see if it was relevant to mitigation. (PCR-T. 115-6).

Mr. Tanzi also presented Dr. Karl Muench, a medical geneticist. Dr. Muench testified that he was asked to consult on Mr. Tanzi's case. (PCR-T. 16). To that end, Dr. Muench reviewed some background materials and a cytogenetics testing report prepared by the University of Florida Cytogenetics Laboratory. (PCR-T. 17; Defense Exhibit 20). The cytogenetics testing report indicates that Mr. Tanzi suffers from 47,XYY Syndrome. (PCR-T. 20) (Defense Exhibit 2). 47,XYY Syndrome is the result of a male child being born with an additional Y chromosome. (PCR-T. 21).

While there is no apparent causal link between 47,XYY and criminal behavior, there is a well documented statistical link between 47,XYY and behavioral issues related to development. (PCR-T. 32). There are numerous studies on behavioral aspects in populations of XYY males, notably in school situations, in which these children experience impaired socialization, increased problems with inner social skills, learning disabilities, impulsive behaviors, and identifiable traits which would lead to placement in special school situations or which would lead to recommendation for a psychological evaluation or a psychiatric evaluation. (PCR-

T. 33-34). Moreover, individuals with 47,XYY disorder have statistically been found to possess lower intelligence than the general population or their siblings and an approximately 15% decrease on IQ tests. (PCR-T. 31). In a follow up study of thirty-eight XYY boys, approximately 50% had documented psychological problems, indicating "considerably increased risks" for delayed language and motor development and psychiatric disorders such as autism. (PCR-T. 60-61).

Hampton Perkins testified that Mr. Tanzi grew up across the street from the Perkins family. (PCR-T. 284). Mr. Perkins stressed to the young Mr. Tanzi the importance of doing well in school and getting good grades. On occasion, Mr. Perkins would take Mr. Tanzi out for breakfast if he did well in school and got a good report card. (PCR-T. 287). Mr. Perkins was contacted by trial counsel, but did not testify at Mr. Tanzi's penalty phase. (PCR-T. 289).

Julia Perkins, Hampton's daughter, also testified at the evidentiary hearing to her experiences with Mr. Tanzi when he was a small child. (PCR-T. 295). Ms. Perkins recalled that Mr. Tanzi's father was "stern." In one incident she witnessed, Tony grabbed him by the back and kicked him. (PCR-T. 301).

After Tony's death, Ms. Perkins babysat Mr. Tanzi. "Mikey" cried a lot. (PCR-T. 295). He was often picked on by other neighborhood kids, who called him names. (PCR-T. 295) and he would cry when they teased him. (PCR-T. 298). The young Mr. Tanzi would sometimes instigate problems with the other kids, but he

was an "easy target." (PCR-T. 300). Moreover, Mr. Tanzi would rarely defend himself or fight back. (PCR-T. 298-9).

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