#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL A. TANZI,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-807 L.T. No. 2000-CF-573-K

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 scott.browne@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

So. 3d 501, 519 (Fla. 2009) (court's decision on a motion to interview jurors is reviewed for an "abuse of discretion").

The innocuous and brief statement, allegedly quoted from a juror, does not implicate any juror misconduct. The comment, if accurately reflected in the newspaper article, implicates the juror's understanding of, or, application of the trial court's instructions and gives a very general sense of the deliberative process.<sup>28</sup> Since no **external** information or influence was alleged, much less established, any inquiry of the jurors would clearly be improper as a matter of established state and federal law. See Devoney v. State, 717 So. 2d 501, 503-504 (Fla. 1998) ("Those cases which have permitted an attack upon a jury verdict have required allegations of an influence upon the jurors' deliberations arising from external sources.") (string cites omitted); Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b) (limiting inquiry of jurors to allegations of prejudicial extraneous information or external influence); Crowe v. Hall, 490 F.3d 840, 848 (11th Cir. 2007) ("federal law frowns upon this kind of inquiry into the internal communications of a jury.").

Any claim that the rules prohibiting juror interviews are unconstitutional is procedurally barred as a matter which should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>According to a newspaper report, a single juror stated: "He didn't care. He had no regrets, no remorse. We spent 2 1/2 hours trying to find a way not to give him the death penalty." (Appellant's Brief at 54).

have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal. See Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1998); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d at 530 n.6 ; Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616, 620-21, n.1, 4, 5, 7 (Fla. 2000); Mann v. State, 770 So. 2d 1158, 1161, n.2 (Fla. 2000). In any case, this Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that the rule prohibiting his counsel from interviewing jurors, Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, is unconstitutional because it violates his constitutional rights of equal protection and due process. See Kormondy v. State, 983 So. 2d 418, 440 (Fla. 2007); Power v. State, 886 So. 2d 952, 957 (Fla. 2004); Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2001). Such a fishing expedition is properly of prohibited as а matter state law and offends no constitutional principles.<sup>29</sup> See Barnhill v. State, 971 So. 2d 106, 116-17 (Fla. 2007) ("We deny relief on this issue consistent with our prior decisions which have found that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) and rule 3.575, which collectively restrict an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Florida's rules are consistent with those employed by federal courts and offend no constitutional principle. See Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b) (limiting inquiry of jurors to allegations of prejudicial extraneous information or external influence); United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 57, 67, 105 S. Ct. 471, 478 (1984) ("Courts have always resisted inquiring into a jury's thought processes, see McDonald v. Pless, 238 U.S. 264, 35 S. Ct. 783, 59 L.Ed. 1300 (1915); Fed. Rule Evid. 606(b) (stating that jurors are generally incompetent to testify concerning jury deliberations); through this deference the jury brings to the criminal process, in addition to the collective judgment of the community, an element of needed finality.").

attorney's ability to interview jurors after trial, do not violate the defendant's constitutional rights.")(string cites omitted).

Because Tanzi's claim is procedurally barred and without merit, this Court should affirm the post-conviction court's summary denial.

# B. The State Violated Brady v. Maryland<sup>30</sup>

Tanzi next asserts that the State withheld favorable information from the defense based upon untimely disclosure that Tanzi possesses the XYY karyotype. The trial court rejected this claim because the "[d]efendant acknowledged that the State did disclose this possibility before trial" and consequently, there was "no Brady violation." (V2, 311).

It is undisputed that the letter referencing the possibility that Tanzi had an "XYY genotype" was sent by prosecutor Manny Madruga to the defense on February 7, 2003. (Supp-V3, 281). During the case management hearing, collateral counsel admitted that this information "was disclosed just prior to trial." (Supp-V3, 203). Once information is turned over to the defense, it is incumbent upon the defense to act upon it. If the defense needed more time to investigate or prepare for the penalty phase based upon this information, it was incumbent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963).

upon Tanzi's counsel to request a continuance.<sup>31</sup> <u>See White v.</u> <u>State</u>, 816 A.2d 776, 778 (Del. 2003) (finding no <u>Brady</u> violation where materials were disclosed a week prior to the trial, and "[d]efense counsel ... neither asked for a continuance nor objected at trial."). "As long as ultimate disclosure is made before it is too late for the defendant to make use of any benefits of the evidence, Due Process is satisfied." <u>United States v. Ziperstein</u>, 601 F.2d 281, 291 (7th Cir. 1979), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 444 U.S. 1031, 100 S. Ct. 701 (1980); <u>Accord United</u> <u>States v. Allain</u>, 671 F.2d 248, 255 (7th Cir. 1982). The prosecutor's disclosure in this case was made three days prior to the penalty phase trial, and, the same day the DNA analyst informed the prosecutor of this information.

In any case, it cannot be considered "material" in that after being provided an evidentiary hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Tanzi failed to establish that a single expert would have changed his or her opinion in this case based upon Tanzi's XYY karyotype.<sup>32</sup> To the contrary, Dr.

 $^{31}$ The penalty phase began on February 10, 2003. It is unclear who on the defense team reviewed the disclosure. Mr. Kuypers did not recall seeing the memo. (V4, 114). Unfortunately, Mrs. Rossell is deceased and we have no idea, what if anything, she may have done in response to the memo.  $^{32}$ As this Court explained in Smith v. State, 931 So. 2d 790, 796

<sup>(</sup>Fla. 2006):

To establish prejudice, the defendant must demonstrate that the suppressed evidence is material. The test for

Raphael, the only expert retained by defense counsel at the time of trial who testified during the evidentiary hearing below, stated that this revelation would have no impact upon his opinions in this case. (V4, 223). Thus, Tanzi's assertion that his experts "would have had a basis on which to explain Mr. Tanzi's increased aggressiveness, impulsivity and behavioral problems" is simply inaccurate. (Appellant's Brief at 60). Nor, aside from cryptically asserting Tanzi was prohibited from exploring a possible defense based upon this information, does Tanzi explain what "defense" could have been pursued.

Assuming for a moment, that XYY karyotype can be linked to specific behavior, a fact not established during the evidentiary hearing below, Florida does not recognize a diminished capacity defense short of insanity. <u>See State v. Bias</u>, 653 So. 2d 380, 382 (Fla. 1995) ("[w]e continue to adhere to the rule that expert evidence of diminished capacity is inadmissible on the issue of mens rea."). Accordingly, the XYY karyotype

materiality is whether there exists a reasonable probability that the jury verdict would have been different had the suppressed information been used at trial. <u>Id.</u> at 289, 296, 119 S. Ct. 1936. In other words, the question is whether "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." <u>Id.</u> at 290, 119 S. Ct. 1936 (quoting <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419, 435, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995)). information would not support any valid defense in this case.<sup>33</sup> And, as argued above under the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Tanzi's XYY was not the least bit significant in terms of its impact on the penalty phase. Thus, assuming, *arguendo*, any discovery violation occurred, it could not be considered material pursuant to <u>Brady</u>. Summary denial of this claim should be affirmed.

# C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel At The Spencer Hearing

The trial court denied this claim as insufficiently pled. The court stated, in relevant part: "Defendant does not identify the additional evidence or witnesses that could have been presented. As such, this Court finds that this subclaim is insufficiently pled." (V2, 311). Since Tanzi failed to allege facie allegations to establish either prima deficient performance or resulting prejudice, summary denial was clearly appropriate. See Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. ("A defendant may not simply file a motion 1989) for postconviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing."); Jones v. State, 998 So. 2d 573, 587

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Dr. Muench, the genetics expert called by Tanzi, agreed that he could not testify that XYY was "causative" of behavior. (V4, 53). In fact, it is generally accepted in the scientific community that there is no "established causation between XYY disorder and criminal or antisocial behavior." (V4, 61-62).

(Fla. 2008) ("This Court has consistently held that to be entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a motion claiming ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must allege specific facts establishing both deficient performance of counsel and prejudice to the defendant.").

Contrary to Tanzi's argument on appeal, the allegations in Tanzi's motion for post-conviction relief were very general, and did not specify the substance of the additional evidence which could have been presented to the trial court but for counsel's deficient performance. While true, the motion did mention additional mental health testimony could have been presented, the only experts cited in the motion were Doctors Mate and Golden, who were associated with Dr. Raphael and his firm. (V4, 44). The motion did not mention what these experts might have testified to, or, could have added to the trial court's understanding of Tanzi's mitigation evidence. See Doorbal v. State, 983 So. 2d 464, 484 (Fla. 2008) ("Counsel for Doorbal to operate under the incorrect assumption appears that conclusory, nonspecific allegations are sufficient to obtain an evidentiary hearing on claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, and specific facts and arguments need not be disclosed or presented until the evidentiary hearing."). Moreover, since Dr. Raphael testified at the penalty phase, and, his report was

introduced into evidence, it is clear the trial court already had the benefit of their input and opinions through Dr. Raphael. It was incumbent upon collateral counsel to specify how their testimony would differ from that already presented in the penalty phase.

In any case, the record conclusively refutes any notion that trial counsel was ineffective during the Spencer hearing. Counsel presented a thorough penalty phase presentation before the jury, thoroughly exploring Tanzi's background and mental the condition. Given jury's 12-0 death recommendation, supported by multiple and weighty aggravation, Tanzi could not meet his nearly insurmountable burden of demonstrating prejudice under Strickland for the failure to present some unspecified additional evidence to the judge during the Spencer hearing. And, since Tanzi was granted a full and fair hearing on his penalty phase allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, any failure to grant a hearing on the Spencer hearing claim was harmless under the facts of this case.<sup>34</sup> See generally Gore v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>Those few cases discussing defense counsel's performance during Spencer hearing as a separate ineffectiveness the issue generally address a life recommendation and the standards for a jury override, wherein the trial judge's role is especially See e.g. Williams v. State, 987 So. 2d 1, 12 (Fla. critical. 2008); Stevens v. State, 552 So. 2d 1082, 1086 (Fla. 1989). An override case is far removed from the situation presented here, with a 12-0 jury recommendation for death, supported by multiple, weighty aggravators.

<u>State</u>, 24 So. 3d 1, 14 (Fla. 2009) ("Similar to our previous discussion of Gore's ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, Gore has not been able to point to any other available witness that counsel should have presented at the *Spencer* hearing that would undermine our confidence in the outcome of his penalty phase.").

# D. The Conflict of Interest Claim

As an initial matter, the State notes that this claim is procedurally barred from review. Although the trial court properly denied the claim as facially insufficient to allege a conflict of interest (V2, 311-12), the fact the trial court did not reach or mention a procedural bar does not preclude this Court from finding the claim barred. See Robertson v. State, 829 So. 2d 901, 906 (Fla. 2002) (noting that an appellate court may affirm a trial court where the court reaches the right result, even where the wrong reason is expressed by the lower court, where the correct result is apparent and supported by the record); Ransone v. State, 20 So. 3d 445, 446 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) (affirming summary denial "for reasons other than those given by the State and relied on by the trial court in denying the motion.") (citing Robertson, 829 So. 2d at 446). The facts relating to this claim were developed in the record and could have been raised on direct appeal.

This Court summarized Tanzi's complaints regarding his attorneys on the motion to withdraw his plea after a <u>Nelson</u> inquiry.<sup>35</sup> On direct appeal, this Court observed the following:

Tanzi confusingly alleged the Arguing pro se, following, among other items: (a) that he had a sexual relationship with his lead counsel; (b) that his counsel was incompetent and lied; (c) that he should not need two attorneys; (d) that he should have a guilt phase if he was forced to have a penalty jury; (e) that there is no difference between the slow death of a life sentence and the fast death of the death penalty; and (f) that a plea would be a waste of the Court's time. Further, during the inquiry held pursuant to Nelson v. State, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th that followed, Tanzi unsuccessfully DCA 1973), attempted numerous arguments to disqualify his lead counsel, including (a) accusations of sexual contact (i.e., sexual touching and his masturbating in her presence); (b) statements that he would threaten to harm or kill his attorneys and statements that such threats had worked previously in other states to disqualify his attorneys; (c) accusations that his attorney lied to the court; and (d) a claim that his counsel had provided incorrect advice when counsel accurately informed him that he could waive the guilt jury but not the penalty jury.

Tanzi v. State, 964 So. 2d 106, 113, f.n. 3 (Fla. 2007). This

Court affirmed the trial court's denial of Tanzi's motion to

withdraw the plea on direct appeal.<sup>36</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>This Court credited the trial court's factual findings and counsel's testimony:

At the evidentiary hearing, Tanzi's counsel, Mr. Kuypers, testified that Tanzi agreed to a strategy of pleading guilty and then requesting a jury waiver. Mr. Kuypers also testified that he had explained to Tanzi that it was uncertain whether the trial court would agree to the jury waiver and that Tanzi appeared to

This Court has held that where the facts giving rise to the conflict of interest claim appear in the trial record, the claim must be raised on direct appeal. See Derrick v. State, 983 So. 2d 443, 454 (Fla. 2008) (since facts relating to the conflict appear in the record of trial, "this claim should have been raised on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred."); Hannon v. State, 941 So. 2d 1109, 1141 (Fla. 2006) (finding the claim procedurally barred where "the facts that formed the basis for this alleged conflict of interest were known to Hannon at the time of his trial and, therefore, could have been and should have been presented on direct appeal"). Accordingly, Tanzi's conflict claim is procedurally barred. In any case, Tanzi's motion properly denied as his motion was was legally insufficient to raise a conflict of interest.

At no point did counsel or Tanzi allege that Ms. Rossell possessed a conflicting interest such as prior representation of a client who is, or might become, a witness in this case. (Appellant's Brief at 62-65). As this Court explained in <u>Hunter</u> v. State, 817 So. 2d 786 (Fla. 2002):

Initially, we acknowledge that the right to

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